DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

FILE GOPY

BEFORE THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

DEBRA LYNN WHEELER and CATHY McCOMAS, Petitioners,



v. Appeal No. 19-0687

LINCOLN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION, Respondent.

BRIEF FILED ON BEHALF OF PETITIONERS WHEELER AND McCOMAS

John Everett Roush, Legal Services
American Federation of Teachers-WV, AFL-CIO
1615 Washington Street East
Charleston, WV 25311
304.344.2679
State Bar ID #3173
iroush@aftwv.org

STATEMENT OF CASE

² Petitioners notified Respondent of this issue on September 27, 2019 as provided in the scheduling order. Respondent objected to assertion of this issue.

³ Petitioners notified Respondent of this issue on September 27, 2019 as provided in the scheduling order. Respondent objected to assertion of this issue.

Party Identification

The Lincoln County Board of Education, hereinafter referenced as Respondent⁴, is a quasi-public corporation created by statute for the management and control of the public schools of Kanawha County, West Virginia. The West Virginia Department of Education was originally a party as it had intervened into the operation of Lincoln County Schools pursuant to West Virginia Code §18-2E-5, However, prior to the entry of the Circuit Court order, it had returned control to Respondent.⁵ Debra Lynn Wheeler and Cathy McComas, Petitioners⁶, were regularly employees in the secretarial category assigned to Respondent's central office. They were classified as Secretary III prior to the initiation of the employment grievance underlying this appeal.

Procedural History

Petitioners initiated a grievance seeking reclassification to the Executive Secretary classification title pursuant to <u>West Virginia Code</u> §6C-2-1, et seq., on February 14, 2011. A conference was held at level I of the grievance procedure on February 22, 2011. A decision denying the grievance was issued at level I on March 3, 2011.

Petitioners appealed to level II of the grievance procedure, which was a mediation. By order dated March 30, 2011, Petitioners' grievances were consolidated with the similar

⁴ The Lincoln County Board of Education filed the appeal to the circuit court of the level III decision granting the grievance. Accordingly, it was the Petitioner at the Circuit Court level. For clarity, the Lincoln County Board of Education will be identified in this document as the Respondent regardless of what level of the grievance procedure or appeal process a particular passage references.

⁵ Appendix p. 336

⁶ Ms. Wheeler and Ms. McComas will be identified as Petitioners throughout this document regardless of what level of the grievance procedure or appeal process a particular passage references.

grievances of two other employees, Susie McCann and Tammy Parsons. A mediation session was held on June 8, 2011. The grievance could not be resolved at that level.

Petitioners appealed to level III on June 21, 2011. The Administrative Law Judge held evidentiary hearings at level III on February 27, 2012, February 29, 2012, and August 29, 2012. By decision dated April 17, 2013, Administrative Law Judge granted the grievance in part and denied the grievance in part. The Administrative Law Judge held that Petitioners did not meet the statutory definition of Executive Secretary because the administrators to whom they were assigned did not have positions characterized by significant administrative duties. However, he held that Petitioners did meet the Respondent's county job description for Executive Secretary. Accordingly, he granted Petitioners' reclassifications to Executive Secretary with back pay.

Respondent filed an appeal to Kanawha County Circuit Court on or about May 22, 2013.

Respondent also paid Petitioners the back pay ordered by the Administrative Law Judge and began paying them at the higher rate of pay.⁸ Respondent filed its brief on August 15, 2013.

Petitioners filed a response brief on September 13, 2013. Respondent filed a reply brief on or about October 1, 2013. There the matter rested for more than five and a half years.

By order entered June 27, 2019, the Circuit Court reversed the decision of the

Administrative Law Judge in part and affirmed it in part. The Circuit Court affirmed the ruling
that Petitioners did not meet the statutory definition because the administrators to whom they

⁷ Administrative Law Judge Stollings-Parr conducted the first two hearings. She took new employment prior to the third and concluding day of hearing, which was conducted by Administrative Law Judge William McGinley who issued the level III decision.

⁸ The record, which ends with the Circuit Court decision, contains no information concerning these post-order occurrences. The undersigned asserts that these actions did occur and believes that they will not be controverted.

were assigned did not have positions characterized by significant administrative duties. The Circuit Court did not rule that Petitioners failed to meet the county job definition of Executive Secretary. However, it ruled that the Administrative Law Judge should not have considered the county job description since it was not introduced until level III and that the county job description was contrary to law. The Circuit Court order did not refer to overpayments to Petitioners based upon the Executive Secretary pay rate. After receipt of the Circuit Court's order, Respondent ceased paying Petitioner Wheeler⁹ at the Executive Secretary rate of pay and advised both Petitioners that it would seek reimbursement for the approximately eight years that Petitioners had received the Executive Secretary pay rate and supplement.¹⁰

Petitioners filed a Notice of Appeal of the Circuit Court order to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals on July 29, 2019.

Petitioner Wheeler is the secretary for Respondent's maintenance department.¹² Dana Smith, Director of Maintenance, was her supervisor. She was classified as a Secretary III and worked a 240-day employment term. Director of Maintenance Smith was responsible for maintaining all of the Board's buildings and facilities. He supervised six employees and oversaw a budget exceeding three million dollars per year. Maintenance of the Respondent's facilities is

⁹ By this point, Petitioner McComas had already retired.

¹⁰ The record, which ends with the Circuit Court decision, contains no information concerning these post-order occurrences. The undersigned asserts that these actions did occur and believes that they will not be controverted.

¹¹ The factual statement of duties of the Petitioners and their supervisors is based on the time the grievance was filed and the time period preceding it.

¹² The following recitation of the duties and responsibilities is drawn heavily, if not quite verbatim, from the Findings of Fact of the Administrative Law Judge in the level III decision. **Appendix pp. 257 - 263**

essential to the health and safety of staff and students, as well as the successful completion of the Respondent's mission.

In addition to providing routine secretarial and clerical services to Director Smith,

Petitioner Wheeler assigned the daily jobs to maintenance workers and has been delegated the authority to prioritize the order of assignments. Among other duties, Petitioner Wheeler prepared the payroll for the maintenance department, contacted independent contractors for specific work, ordered supplies and coordinated in-service training for maintenance workers.

Tina Black is also assigned to Respondent's central office and is multi-classified as Receptionist/Switchboard Operator, Executive Secretary and Clerk II. Her direct supervisor is Assistant Superintendent Midkiff. In addition to answering the telephone and transferring calls, Ms. Black is responsible for calling out all professional and service personnel substitutes between 8:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m. Ms. Black also monitors the security cameras for the central office building in addition to providing general secretarial and clerical services as needed.¹³ At the beginning of the 2011-2012 school year, a rotation was established so that all Central Office secretaries took turns filling in for one hour for Ms. Black. Petitioner Wheeler took part in the rotation to cover the one hour of time when Tina Black was at lunch.¹⁴

Petitioner McComas was employed by Respondent in the Secretary III classification and had a 240-day employment term. Her direct supervisor was Charlene Colburn, Respondent's Federal Program Director/Literacy Supervisor. Petitioner McComas also worked for Danny

¹³ Appendix p.262

¹⁴ The record does not indicate whether this rotation is still in existence and if not, when it ceased functioning.

¹⁵ The following recitation of the duties and responsibilities is drawn heavily, if not quite verbatim, from the Findings of Fact of the Administrative Law Judge in the level III decision. **Appendix pp. 256 - 257**

Dailey, Respondent's Technology Director and Danna Snyder, Respondent's Director of Special Programs.

- As Director of Federal Programs, Ms. Colburn writes grants securing significant amounts of federal funding for Respondent's programs, and she oversees these programs.
- The Director of Technology, Danny Dailey, was responsible for planning,
 purchasing and maintaining technology equipment for Lincoln County schools. A
 large amount of money was involved in this process. Director Dailey oversaw
 the federal program for virtual learning (ERATE), and the Tools for Schools
 program.
- Dana Snyder, Director of Special Projects, is responsible for the system-wide student assessment and is responsible for 21st Century and Counseling grants.

The duties and responsibilities of each of the supervisors described above, Dana Smith (Wheeler), Charlene Colburn (McComas), Danny Dailey (McComas), and Dana Snyder (McComas), are important to the successful operation of Respondent's school system. The Administrative Law Judge made a Findings of Fact in the level III decision in this grievance that:

[Respondent's] Directors have substantial administrative duties that are comparable in difficulty and responsibility.¹⁶

_

¹⁶ Appendix p. 263, Level III decision, Finding of Fact #25

It appears from the context that he meant these Directors' duties were comparable in difficulty to the duties of the Superintendent, Assistant Superintendent, and the Treasurer because in the next sentence the Administrative Law Judge continued:

However, they [Respondent's Directors] are lower on the administrative hierarchy than the Assistant Superintendent, Treasurer and Superintendent.¹⁷

In any event, Petitioner McComas provided secretarial and clerical services to Director Colburn, including but not limited to, handling telephone calls and electronic communications, preparing correspondence, scheduling events, completing reports and maintaining a website related to professional development. Ms. Petitioner McComas' duties require her to spend a little more than half her time working for Director Colburn and the remainder of her time was split between the other two directors.

Prior to the 2011-2012 school year, Petitioner McComas also filled in for Tina Black for one hour each day to give Ms. Black a lunch break. Like Petitioner Wheeler, Petitioner McComas was part in the rotation of secretaries filling in for Ms. Black that was established at the beginning of the 2011-2012 school year.

Brenda Powell was a secretary assigned to then Superintendent Patricia Lucas. Joanne Adkins, Tina Black and Angela Prichard were secretaries assigned to Assistant Superintendent Jeff Midkiff. Marsha Weaver, Trina Barrett, and Darlene Neil were secretaries assigned to

-

¹⁷ Appendix p. 263, Level III decision, Finding of Fact #25

Treasure Birdie Gandy. These secretaries held the classification title of Executive Secretary as their classification or as part of a multiclassification title. 18

Both Petitioners perform nearly all the duties listed in Respondent's job descriptions for Secretary III and Executive Secretary.¹⁹ Of importance to the current litigation, Respondent's job description for Executive Secretary provided, under the rubric of "Responsibilities" of an Executive Secretary:

 \dots to serve as secretary to specific department/department head, assisting to assure that the office operates smoothly and efficiently. 20

Further, under the rubric of "Relationships to Others", Respondent's job description for Executive Secretary provided the following:

Works under the direct supervision of the department head/director.²¹

The foregoing job descriptions were offered into evidence at the level III hearing. There was no evidentiary record at the first two levels, a conference at level I and a mediation at level II. The Petitioners' level III appeal form referenced county policies, but their level I and level II forms did not.

¹⁸ Appendix pp. 252 & 260 - 262

¹⁹ Appendix pp. 220-221, 241-242, & 259

²⁰ Appendix p. 220

²¹ Appendix p. 220

As can be seen from the foregoing descriptions of the duties of the Petitioners, both worked under the direct supervision of an administrator or administrators who are the department head or the director of a department. These administrators have substantial administrative duties comparable in difficulty and responsibility to those performed by the Superintendent, Assistant Superintendent and Treasurer.

After receipt of the level III appeal, Respondent paid Petitioners back wages as awarded by the Administrative Law Judge and began compensating them as Executive Secretaries.²²
Respondent filed an appeal to Circuit Court but did not request a stay. Petitioners did not seek enforcement of the level III decision. After receipt of the Circuit Court final order, Respondent ceased paying Petitioners as Executive Secretaries and advised Petitioners that it would seek recovery of the back pay and additional pay already provided to Petitioners since the level III decision.²³

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred in holding that the county job description for the Executive Secretary classification title should not have been taken into account because it was not referenced in the level I and level II grievance forms. The statutes related to the grievance procedure only require that the nature of the grievance be described. The statutes do not require that the form and the information inserted into that form remain identical from one

²² The record, which ends with the Circuit Court decision, contains no information concerning these post-order occurrences. The undersigned asserts that these actions did occur and believes that they will not be controverted.

²³ The record, which ends with the Circuit Court decision, contains no information concerning these post-order occurrences. The undersigned asserts that these actions did occur and believes that they will not be controverted.

level of the grievance procedure. Indeed, the statutes do not require that a particular form be used at all, though the procedural rules of the Grievance Board make use of the standard form a mandatory. These procedural rules do not require that the level III grievance appeal form be identical to that utilized at levels I and II.

The Circuit Court erred in concluding that the county job description for the Executive Secretary classification title was contrary to law. The county job description for the Executive Secretary classification title merely expands the statutory definition of the Executive Secretary classification title without contravening it.

The Circuit Court erred in affirming the decision of the Administrative Law Judge's conclusion that Petitioners did not meet the statutory definition of Executive Secretary. The Administrative Law Judge held that Petitioners' supervisors had significant administrative duties. This finding entitled Petitioners to the Executive Secretary classification title by the terms of the statutory definition of Executive Secretary. The fact that the Superintendent, Assistant Superintendent and Treasurer are higher on the Respondent's administrative hierarchy is irrelevant.

The Circuit Court did not address the question of whether Respondent could recover compensation paid over a period of eight years to Petitioners at the Executive Secretary rate.

Permitting Respondent to recover this money would be arbitrary and capricious given the ... circumstances, i.e., Respondent's compliance with the level III order was voluntary, the lengthy passage of time between the level III decision and the Circuit Court's reversal of the same, and the accrual of potential "overpayment" that resulted form the passage of time.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioners believe that the facts and legal arguments will be adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal but welcomes the opportunity for oral argument if the Court determines that oral argument would be helpful or necessary.

ARGUMENT

Prior to addressing the issues peculiar to this case, Petitioners will address two general issues common to all appeals to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals arising from Circuit Court decisions on administrative appeals from the West Virginia Public Employees Grievance Board. The first of these issues is the standard of review that this Court must apply to this case. The second is the statutory construction to be applied to laws pertaining to school personnel.

In <u>Darby v. Kanawha County Board of Education</u>, 711 S.E.2d 595 (W. Va. 2011), the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals explained that the standard of review that it applies to circuit court decisions is identical to the standard applied by circuit courts to decisions of Administrative Law Judges of the West Virginia Public Employees Grievance Board pursuant to <u>West Virginia Code</u> §6C-2-5(b). Accordingly, <u>West Virginia Code</u> §6C-2-5(b), which sets the

standard for review of Grievance Board decisions by circuit courts is of some relevance to the current appeal to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals. This section provides:

A party may appeal the decision of the administrative law judge on the grounds that the decision:

- (1) Is contrary to law or a lawfully adopted rule or written policy of the employer;
- (2) Exceeds the administrative law judge's statutory authority;
- (3) Is the result of fraud or deceit;
- (4) Is clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (5) Is arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

In <u>Darby</u> the Court continued, quoting <u>Martin v. Randolph County Board of Education</u>, 465 S.E.2d 399 (W.Va. 1995), to hold,

[The circuit court] must uphold any of the ALJ's factual findings that are supported by substantial evidence, and we owe substantial deference to inferences drawn from these facts. Further, the ALJ's credibility determinations are binding unless patently without basis in the record. Nonetheless, this Court must determine whether the ALJ's findings were reasoned, *i.e.*, whether he or she considered the relevant factors and explained the facts and policy concerns on which he or she relied, and whether those facts have some basis in the record. We review *de novo* the conclusions of law and application of law to the facts.

Quoting <u>Cahill v. Mercer County Board of Education</u>, 539 S.E.2d 437 (W. Va. 2000), the Court held that:

Grievance rulings involve a combination of both deferential and plenary review. Since a reviewing court is obligated to give

deference to factual findings rendered by an administrative law judge, a circuit court is not permitted to substitute its judgment for that of the hearing examiner with regard to factual determinations. Credibility determinations made by an administrative law judge are similarly entitled to deference. Plenary review is conducted as to the conclusions of law and application of law to the facts, which are reviewed de novo.

Finally, quoting <u>Randolph County Board of Education v. Scalia</u>, 387 S.E.2d 524 (W.Va. 1989), the Court added:

[a] final order of the hearing examiner for the West Virginia [Public] Employees Grievance Board, made pursuant to W. Va. Code, [6C-2-1], et seq.], and based upon findings of fact, should not be reversed unless clearly wrong.

★ STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION

The long-standing rule regarding statutory construction of laws and regulations dealing with school personnel is that such laws and regulations are to be strictly construed and in favor of the employee(s) that the law or regulation is designed to protect. Morgan v. Pizzino, 256 S.E.2d 592 (W.Va. 1979).

The Circuit Court erred in holding that the Administrative Law Judge should not have considered the Respondent's job description for the Executive Secretary classification title.

The Circuit Court held that West Virginia Code §6C-2-3(j) requires the West Virginia

Public Employees Grievance Board prepare and make available grievance forms for the use by employees filing a grievance. The Circuit Court stated that the grievance form provided by the West Virginia Public Employees Grievance Board requires that the grievant "list the specific statues, policies, rules, regulations or agreements you claim have been violated, misapplied or misinterpreted." The Petitioners did not specifically mention the Respondent's job descriptions on the Level I and II grievance forms that Petitioners themselves prepared. The Level III appeal form, prepared by counsel, does reference "Respondent's policies". Based on the foregoing, the Circuit Court ruled that:

Issues not raised in the Level One grievance forms should not have been entertained by the ALJ at Level Three, and the decision to address the new allegations regarding job descriptions exceeded the ALJ's authority and was arbitrary and capricious, and therefore, erroneous.²⁶

There are several problems with this pronouncement by the Circuit Court. First, <u>West</u> Virginia Code §6C-2-3(j) merely provides:

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