#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Petitioners erroneously argue that (1) their new allegations, first raised at Level Three of the grievance procedure, relating to the errant job descriptions, should have been considered and, if considered, the job descriptions did not contravene the statutory definitions of Executive Secretary and Secretary III and should be applied in favor of classifying the petitioners as Executive Secretaries; (2) they meet the statutory definition of "Executive Secretary" though that issue was not appealed by the petitioners or the respondent to Circuit Court; (3) the Circuit Court order did not authorize the recovery of wages overpaid to the petitioners, though not raised in the notice of appeal; and (4) it would be arbitrary and capricious to permit recovery, by the respondent, of wages overpaid in light of facts not contained in the record or otherwise developed below or in the notice of appeal. See Pet. Brief.

The Circuit Court correctly applied the relevant statutes, holding that and the petitioners clearly met the Secretary III class title as found in West Virginia Code 18A-4-8 and the petitioners were not entitled to the Executive Secretary classification. The Circuit Court's Order was not arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion or otherwise contrary to the law and should thus be affirmed.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, oral argument is unnecessary is this case because the facts and arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and the record on appeal, and the decisional process would be not be significantly aided by oral argument.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE PETITIONERS WERE NOT ENTITLED TO THE EXECUTIVE SECRETARY CLASSIFICATION.

Neither the Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ"), nor the Circuit Court Judge ("Judge") found that the petitioners met the statutory definition of "Executive Secretary" as outlined in West Virginia Code 18A-4-8(h), part of their original claims. "Executive secretary' means a person employed as secretary to the county school superintendent or as a secretary who is assigned to a position characterized by significant administrative duties." *Id.* The decision of the ALJ was not appealed by the petitioners on this point.

Neither the ALJ, nor the Circuit Court Judge found that the petitioners proved that they were similarly situated to any other secretary employed by the Board who held the title Executive Secretary, their original claims, and, as result, the ALJ held that the Petitioners failed to prove favoritism or discrimination. The decision of the ALJ was not appealed by the petitioners on this point, either. In fact, the petitioners did not appeal the ALJ Decision, at all.

The ALJ ruled that the petitioners were entitled to the Executive Secretary class title as a result of the Board's job descriptions, an issue first raised at Level Three of the grievance procedure by the petitioners. The Board appealed this portion of the ALJ's Decision and the Judge appropriately found that the job descriptions should not have been considered by the ALJ; even if it were appropriate to consider new matters raised at Level Three, the job descriptions contravened the statutory definitions of Executive Secretary and Secretary III and could not be applied; and the petitioners clearly met the Secretary III class title as found in West Virginia Code 18A-4-8. "Secretary III means a person assigned to the county board office administrators in charge of various instructional, maintenance, transportation, food services, operations and health departments, federal programs or departments with particular responsibilities in purchasing and

financial control or any person who has served for eight years in a position which meets the definition of 'secretary II' or 'secretary III.'" *Id.* 

A. Procedural Irregularities Require Finding that All Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Not Appealed, Stand as Uncontested, and the Addition of New Issues in this Appeal are Untimely and Should Not be Considered.

#### 1. Uncontested Findings of Fact Stand

Rule 52(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure requires that "[i]n all actions tried upon the facts without a jury or with an advisory jury, the court shall find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon ... Findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous." *Hopkins v. DC Chapman Ventures, Inc.*, 228 W. Va. 213, 215, 719 S.E.2d 381, 383 (2011). "When circuit courts are reviewing the decisions of county boards of education and other administrative tribunals, they must submit findings of fact and conclusions of law with the order." Rules Civ. Proc., Rule 52(a). *Golden v. Board of Educ. of Harrison County*, 169 W. Va. 63, 285 S.E.2d 665 (1981). (Prior to *Golden* there had not been a requirement for findings of fact when a Circuit Court reviewed the decisions of county boards of education and administrative tribunals).

Petitioners now claim, for the first time, that the finding of the Administrative Law Judge, below, that the "supervisors did not have significant administrative duties within the meaning of statutory definition of the Executive Secretary classification title" was erroneous. *Petitioners' Brief.* This factual finding was neither appealed by the Board, nor the petitioners, when the Board appealed the Level Three Decision to the Circuit Court of Kanawha County.

The West Virginia Supreme Court has held, "[T]he rule in West Virginia is that parties must speak clearly in the circuit court, on pain that, if they forget their lines, they will likely be bound forever to hold their peace." *State ex rel. Cooper v. Caperton*, 196 W. Va. 208, 215–16, 470 S.E.2d 162, 169–70 (1996). This has been referred to as the "raise or waive" rule.

The "raise or waive rule," under which silence may operate as a waiver of objections to error and irregularities, is designed to prevent a party from obtaining an unfair advantage by failing to give a trial court an opportunity to rule on the objection and thereby correct potential error, and the rule also prevents a party from making a tactical decision to refrain from objecting but later assigning error if the case turns sour, or even worse, planting an error and nurturing the seed as a guarantee against a bad result. *Hopkins v. DC Chapman Ventures, Inc.*, 228 W. Va. 213, 719 S.E.2d 381 (2011). *See also Sydenstricker v Raleigh General Hosp.*, No. 01-C-185-K, 2004 WL 5786801 (W.Va. Cir. Ct. Jan. 16, 2004).

In *Cooper v. Caperton*, the Respondent (Mr. Cooper) filed a motion to suspend the briefing schedule until an evidentiary hearing so that he could present witnesses in support of his contentions. The circuit court did not rule on the motion and the parties proceeded with briefing the merits of the case. Mr. Cooper did not object or move for an evidentiary hearing after it became clear the court was going to rule without first having an evidentiary hearing.

This Court held.

To preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must articulate it with such sufficient distinctiveness to alert a circuit court to the nature of the claimed defect. It must be emphasized that the contours for appeal are shaped at the circuit court level by setting forth with particularity and at the appropriate time the legal ground upon which the parties intend to rely. Here, Mr. Cooper undermined these mechanisms by not taking the necessary action at a meaningful time to preserve the issue of the lack of an evidentiary hearing.

State ex rel. Cooper v. Caperton, 196 W. Va. 208, 216, 470 S.E.2d 162 (1995) (emphasis added). In this case, since the petitioners failed to contest the findings of the ALJ in Circuit Court relating to their failure to prove that they met the statutory definition of Executive Secretary, they waived the right to address it on appeal to the Supreme Court.

#### 2. Addition of the New Issues is Untimely

Rule 5(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedures states that, "<u>Within</u> thirty days of entry of the judgment being appealed, the party appealing shall file the notice of appeal and the attachments required in the notice of appeal form contained in Appendix A of these Rules." W. Va. R. App. P. 5(b) (emphasis added). The Circuit Court order that the Petitioners have appealed was entered June 28, 2019. Their Notice of Appeal was properly filed July 29, 2019.

Section 17 of the Notice of Appeal directs petitioners to identify the assignments of error. The directions state, "[e]xpress the assignments in the terms and circumstances of the case, but without unnecessary detail. Separately number each assignment of error and for each assignment: (1) State the issue; (2) Provide a succinct statement as to why the Court should review the issue."

Petitioners identified five assignments of error, none related to the backpay/overpayment issues now brought before this Court. Appendix A of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure discusses the Notice of Appeal and provides that the "nature of the proceedings and the relief sought should be stated summarily." W. Va. R. App. P. App. A. This form was updated on October 19, 2010, and the Rules of Appellate Procedure require the form to be used for appeals of all final orders entered on or after December 1, 2010.

In an apparent effort to correct the oversight regarding the overpayment issues, two months later, counsel for the petitioners sent a letter dated September 27, 2019 advising of the "two additional issues which Petitioners wish to present in this appeal, and which were not included in notice of appeal..." Counsel for the Board, in response, advised Attorney Roush, counsel for the Petitioners, of the "object[ion] to the addition of the new issues that have neither been the subject of the grievance, nor ruled on at any level below." The letter from counsel for the

petitioners does not serve as a new, revised, or amended Notice of Appeal. Upon information and belief, the letter was not even filed with this Court.

Additionally, the new issues are not subsidiary to the petitioners' assignments of error. Rule 10(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure addresses what can be included within a petitioner's brief and indicates that the assignments of error addressed do not need to be identical and are deemed to include every subsidiary question comprised therein. Specifically, Rule 10(c)(3), states as follows:

(3) Assignments of Error. The brief opens with a list of the assignments of error that are presented for review, expressed in terms and circumstances of the case but without unnecessary detail. The assignments of error need not be identical to those contained in the notice of appeal. The statement of the assignments of error will be deemed to include every subsidiary question fairly comprised therein. If the issue was not presented to the lower tribunal, the assignment of error must be phrased in such a fashion as to alert the Court to the fact that plain error is asserted. In its discretion, the Court may consider a plain error not among the assignments of error but evident from the record and otherwise within its jurisdiction to decide.

#### W. Va. R. App. P. 10(c)(3) (emphasis added).

In *Canterbury v. Laird*, this Court held, "[o]ur cases have made clear that this Court ordinarily will not address an assignment of error that was not raised in a petition for appeal." *Canterbury v. Laird*, 221 W. Va. 453, 458, 655 S.E.2d 199, 204 (2007); *see also Koerner v. West Virginia Dep't. of Military Affairs & Pub. Safety*, 217 W.Va. 231, 617 S.E.2d 778 (2005) (refusing to consider an argument in appellant's brief that was not assigned as error in petition for appeal); *Holmes v. Basham*, 130 W.Va. 743, 45 S.E.2d 252 (1947) (same).

The newly raised issues involve the recovery of overpaid wages by the Board, and not the application of the statutory definitions applicable to secretaries to determine their appropriate classification titles, or the applicability of job descriptions, or the duties of the

petitioners – all issues raised in the notice of appeal. As a result, these New Issues are not subsidiary to the initial assignments of errors identified by the petitioners.

#### 3. The New Issues Were Not Addressed at the Lower Level.

While petitioners argue that the New Issues relating to the recovery of overpaid wages are related, because wages are determined based upon a job classification, it is impossible for the petitioners to support their argument with citations to the record below because these New Issues were never presented/addressed in the lower court. Rule 10(c)(7), states that a Petitioner's brief "[m]ust contain appropriate and specific citations to the record on appeal, including citations that pinpoint when and how the issues in the assignments of error were presented to the lower tribunal. The Court may disregard errors that are not adequately supported by specific references to the record on appeal." W. Va. R. App. P. 10(c)(7). (emphasis added).

The New Issues were not addressed, nor decided upon, at any lower level and should be disregarded.

#### 4. There Was No Final Judgment at the Lower Level on the New Issues.

The New Issues relating to the recovery of overpayments are not appealable issues. In order for an issue to be appealable, there must first be a final judgment. This is called the "Rule of Finality." This Court has held appeals may only be taken from final decisions of a circuit court. *C & O Motors, Inc. v. W. Virginia Paving, Inc.*, 223 W. Va. 469, 473, 677 S.E.2d 905, 909 (2009). "The required finality is a statutory mandate, not a rule of discretion." *Province v. Province*, 196 W.Va. 473, 478, 473 S.E.2d 894, 899 (1996).

As stated above, there is nothing in the record below, at any level, addressing or deciding the issues relating to the overpayment of wages to the petitioners. Petitioners' brief making allegations of fact and purported conclusions of law should not form the basis of a final judgment that could be appealed.

### B. The Circuit Court Correctly Held that the Job Descriptions Should Not Have Been Considered at Level Three.

The Judge held that "Issues not raised in the Level One grievance forms should not have been entertained by the ALJ at Level Three, and the decision to address the new allegations regarding the job descriptions exceeded the ALJ's authority and was arbitrary and capricious, and therefore, erroneous." *Order*, 4 *App* at 339. The Petitioners' Level One forms indicate that they are "Requesting uniformity of secretaries in Central Office" and only reference West Virginia Code § 18A-4-8. *App*. at 57-58.

A review of the Level One Decisions for the petitioners reveals no mention of job descriptions or the application thereof. *App.* 3-8. The only arguments were uniformity and the application of the statutory definitions for Executive Secretary in W. Va. Code § 18A-4-8. At Level Two, the petitioners used a similar form as they did at Level One, with no change in the allegations/claims and no change in the "statutes, policies, rules, regulations or agreements" claimed to have been violated. (*App.* 9-10). Neither Level Two form referenced job descriptions. Finally, at Level Three, the petitioners add a reference to "[the Board's] policies." *App.* 17. Based upon this vague reference to the Board's policies, the petitioners now erroneously contend that Grievance Board correctly considered the Board's job descriptions and that the Circuit Court erred in holding otherwise. The petitioners' argument is incorrect for multiple reasons.

In defending the grievances of the petitioners herein, the Board was clearly only on notice that one statute, W. Va. Code § 18A-4-8, was at issue. Each petitioner made reference to a portion of the statute in their grievance forms at Levels One and Two, that being the allegations that their supervisors had "significant administrative duties". *App.* at 1-2, 9-10. The petitioners are required to follow the proper grievance procedure set forth in the grievance statute. Quite simply, the issue of the Board's job descriptions was not at issue at Level One or Two of the grievance

procedure. In order for that issue to be properly before the Grievance Board at Level Three, it must have first been addressed at Levels One and Two of the grievance procedure. *See* W. Va. Code § 6C-2-4(a)(3)-(4) (stating that a chief administrator shall hold a level one hearing and issue a decision, and that an employee may only proceed directly to level three when the parties agree or when the grievance is disciplinary).

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